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There is no doubt that much could be said about Borley that will never be published. It concerns the private lives of individuals and is only indirectly concerned with the supernatural.


Joe Burroughs, The Haunted Rectory, BBC1


We do not understand. We cannot understand. We are too finite to understand. The really big things we cannot grasp as yet.


Thomas Edison2












For Rob Haywood
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Borley Rectory, 1937










FOREWORD





We all wonder about death, but we don’t understand it. Ghost stories are speculations, little experiments in death. We try it on for size – it never quite fits. Good, we say, it’s nothing to do with us, this death. But what about that death over there; what’s that one about?


Audrey Niffenegger1





The British are less sceptical than they like to believe. Despite advances in science and technology, since the Second World War Britain has witnessed an increasing belief in the existence of ghosts. In 1950, an estimated 10 per cent of the population said they believed in ghosts, with only 2 per cent claiming to have actually seen one. But by 2014, over a third of Britons said that they believed in ghosts and 14 per cent said they had seen, felt or heard one. Thirty-nine per cent believed that a house could be haunted. This is in contrast to the belief in other supernatural beings such as witches, fairies and vampires, which has dwindled significantly since the last century. More British people currently believe in ghosts than they do in the Devil. Only angels attract similar levels of belief to ghosts.2


Borley Rectory reached the peak of its fame during the interwar years and its notoriety was a reflection of those anxious times, as the world recuperated from one international cataclysm and prepared for the next. It was regarded as the ‘most extraordinary and best documented case of haunting in the annals of psychical research.’3 Hundreds of witnesses catalogued thousands of incidents over many decades. Every creak of the floorboards, drop in temperature, sinister sound or ghostly sighting seems to have been recorded.


The forbidding and isolated Rectory, situated on a windswept ridge on the northern border of Essex, conformed to the classic image of the spooky rural mansion from Gothic literature such as The Fall of the House of Usher, Jane Eyre and The Turn of the Screw. Fuelled by the media, by the Second World War it had become the most famous real-life haunting of its day, prompting vast numbers to visit the site in order to ‘see the ghosts’.4 Following its publication in 1940, Harry Price’s popular bestseller, ‘The Most Haunted House in England’; Ten Years’ Investigation of Borley Rectory, inspired almost a franchise of books, plays, newspaper features and radio broadcasts. There was even a plan for a Hollywood feature film with a script by the American writer Upton Sinclair.5


Though some elements of the Borley story were almost a pastiche of the traditional English ghost narrative – phantom coaches, headless horsemen – the most intense period of activity took place in the midst of a technological revolution in an era of photography, telegrams, telephones, radios and motor cars. This was a vibrantly modern world of extraordinary advances of which the previous generation had only dreamed. Messages could be simply transmitted from one part of the globe to another by electric telegraph, disembodied voices were routinely broadcast from a cabinet in every sitting room in the country, and flickering monochrome images projected onto screens in ornate picture palaces could not only move, but from 1927 could talk as well. The notion of communication by unseen powers was no longer the preserve of science fiction, magic or the supernatural but an everyday reality.


Britain before the First World War was less intimately acquainted with death than any other generation since the Industrial Revolution.6 From the 1880s onwards, the death rate had fallen to such an extent that, in 1899, an essay in the Fortnightly Review, ‘The Dying of Death’,7 confidently declared that ‘death is disappearing from our thoughts’. The ostentatious funerals and excessive mourning that had characterised the early Victorian period had given way to simpler affairs. By the time Queen Victoria died, in January 1901, Edward VII insisted that the official mourning for his mother should not continue beyond April of that year, lest it affect the English social season.8 For a nation that had assumed it had tamed death, the Great War came as a terrific shock, being confronted with it on an industrial scale. Sigmund Freud wryly observed at the time that ‘death will no longer be denied; we are forced to believe in it. People really die’.9 At the front, with the remains of many casualties merely mangled body parts, chaplains were unable to give decent burials and clergy at home were ill-equipped to answer the profound questions that such losses prompted in the bereaved: how could an omnipotent God allow such wholesale slaughter? Christianity itself seemed inadequate, unable to comfort a nation riven by grief, leading many in the post-war period to look for comfort beyond the orthodox churches. Attempting to contact the dead became a national pastime and for some, a new religion.


At the beginning of the twentieth century, in his anthology of real-life supernatural tales, Charles G. Harper lamented that ‘the era of the “haunted house” [had] long been on the wane’:




There is too much intellectual priggishness prevalent nowadays for the fine old crusted tales of the Moated Grange and its spectral inhabitants to attract more than an amused tolerance, as things only fitted for children.10





Many a ghost-ridden mansion had been demolished, and ghosts, sighed Harper, did not ‘very appropriately haunt houses less than a hundred years old’. The Irish journalist Elliott O’Donnell similarly despaired of a haunted house he visited near Windsor in 1920, ‘sorely out of place among the modern villas that the vandal builder of the twentieth century had erected on all sides of it’.11 As post-war rural England was increasingly consumed by characterless suburbs, the landscape defaced with motorways, pylons and telegraph poles, a particular vision of English heritage seemed to be in danger, the haunted house itself on the verge of extinction. Even the Society for Psychical Research, the leading paranormal body in Britain, failed to publish any major investigation of hauntings between 1894 and 1923.12 But at the end of the 1920s, Borley Rectory would reignite the popular fascination with the haunted house, redefining its iconography for the age of the wireless and the tabloid.


Like a golden-age crime novel, the story is set in a lonely country house with a cast of eccentric characters who are examined by a flawed and ambiguous investigator, the celebrated ghost hunter Harry Price. Much of the fascination of the story relates to its setting. A rectory in Jane Austen and Anthony Trollope is a particularly English symbol of order, continuity and faith. What dark forces could threaten such a bastion of probity? ‘It is a curious fact,’ Price observed, ‘that the clergy appear to be more frequent percipients or witnesses of psychic phenomena than men of any other calling.’13 The testimony of the inhabitants of the house – clergymen and their families – seemed beyond reproach. Though it echoes with the Anglican tone of an M. R. James ghost story, the history of Borley Rectory is suffused with Roman Catholicism, a belief structure hundreds of years old that had been violently cauterised from national culture and consciousness, then dismissed as superstition. But it had defiantly refused to die. The mystery at the heart of Borley Rectory remains elusive. Many key witnesses contradict themselves or change their minds – as does Price, the detective figure tasked with unravelling the clues.


Since the publication of The Most Haunted House in England, subsequent examinations of the case have been doggedly partisan – with some dismissing the haunting as an elaborate hoax and others insisting it is one of the greatest examples of verifiable paranormal activity in the history of psychical research. The investigation of the haunting continues to fiercely polarise opinion; there is no consensus. But it remains hugely influential in the study of the paranormal and even more so in fiction, providing the template for Shirley Jackson’s The Haunting of Hill House, Richard Matheson’s Hell House and Stephen King’s The Shining, as well as influencing the American horror franchise The Amityville Horror. Borley holds a particularly intense grip on television audiences in reality formats such as Most Haunted – which is indebted to the title of Price’s famous book – as well as drama series such as American Horror Story, The Haunting of Hill House and The Haunting of Bly Manor, experiments in camp which aim perhaps to entertain rather than to scare. But to the uncertain, exhausted world between the wars, devastated by grief and startled into an age of mass communication and dizzying technology, to some the story of Borley Rectory seemed to answer the most profound question about the nature of human survival beyond death, and to offer, at last, what religion had failed to do but which science now demanded: proof.








[image: Image]

The grave of Reverend Harry Foyster Bull










PROLOGUE DEATH OF A RECTOR



14 June 1927




The spot’s about as unromantic as a cabbage patch. That’s why I think it’s genuine. It’s about the last place one would pick to pitch a ghost story. It doesn’t look a place for ghosts.


H. E. Pratt1





It started with the death of the rector.


On 9 June 1927, 64-year-old Harry Foyster Bull died in his sleep at Borley Rectory. He had inherited the Rectory from his father, Henry Dawson Bull, in 1892. Between them, father and son had shepherded the small Essex parish through sixty-five years of extraordinary change, from the heyday of the Victorian era through the turn of the century, to the Great War and its aftermath. Reverend Bull’s death was more than the loss of a parish priest; it was the end of an era.


The funeral at Borley on the following Tuesday morning was a large county affair with standing-room only in the small country church packed with relatives, clergy, local landowners and gentry. Every family in the district was represented, including the church warden William Bigg, as well as local dignitaries such as Sir George and Lady Whitehouse, and Miles Braithwaite, a former mayor of the nearby town of Sudbury. The plain oak coffin was carried the short distance across the road from the Rectory to the churchyard, followed in procession by the Bishop of Chelmsford, Dr Guy Warman, surpliced clergy and the choir. Behind them, dressed in mourning, were Reverend Bull’s grieving widow, Ivy, his stepdaughter and his siblings. Placed on the coffin was his rector’s stole. In a touching tribute, local schoolchildren lined the pathway as the funeral cortege proceeded towards the church door. Outside and inside the church, magnificent floral tributes were testament to the popularity of the late rector.2


Opening with the hymn ‘There is a Land of Pure Delight’, the service was led by the deceased’s cousin Henry Foyster, rector of All Saints Church, Hastings, where the grandfather they shared had also served as rector. The Bishop then gave a short but passionate address. Harry Bull had been educated at Malvern and Exeter College Oxford, where he had been a popular undergraduate, an excellent oarsman, a talented boxer and a kind, loyal friend. He had been ordained in 1886 and held curacies at County Durham and Chippenham before returning home to Borley as curate to his father. He had then served as rector himself for thirty-five years. What struck the Bishop was the extraordinary love the rector had had for Borley, a place to which he had committed his life. Even when visiting him during his last, sad days, the Bishop had found that the one thing that had exercised Reverend Bull’s mind was his church and his people: ‘He loved Borley with a great love. It was the great passion of his life.’3


The service ended with a setting of ‘Nunc Dimittis’ played on the organ by Ernest Ambrose, who had played at the church since he was a boy: ‘Lord, now lettest thou thy servant depart in peace according to thy word.’ At the committal in the churchyard, as the mourners sang ‘Abide with Me’, the coffin was lowered into a grave lined with evergreens and flowers. Reverend Bull was buried east of the church, just above the graves of his parents, which, dominated by marble crosses, overlooked the Stour Valley.


But among the bereaved that morning, there was anger as well as sorrow. Though the official cause of death had been registered as heart disease and chronic bronchitis, there were some who doubted it. Harry Bull’s younger sisters, Freda, Constance and Ethel, suspected that he had been murdered. What’s more, the poison that they believed had killed him had been administered by someone who was also mourning at his graveside. In death, the rector would not rest in peace. And life in the tiny rural village of Borley would never be the same again.










PART ONE THE HAUNTERS
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The front of Borley Rectory from the road










CHAPTER ONE A FIRST-CLASS GHOST STORY



10–12 June 1929




Who has not either seen or heard of some house, shut up and uninhabitable, fallen into decay, and looking dusty and dreary, whence, at midnight, strange sounds have been heard to issue – the rattling of chains and the groaning of perturbed spirits? A house that people have thought it unsafe to pass after dark, and which has remained for years without a tenant, and which no tenant would occupy, even were he paid to do so? There are hundreds of such houses at the present day… which are marked with the mark of fear – places for the timid to avoid, and the pious to bless themselves at, and ask protection from, as they pass – the abodes of ghosts, and evil spirits.


Charles Mackay, Memoirs of Extraordinary Popular Delusions and the Madness of Crowds (1841)1





Two years after Harry Bull’s death, on Monday 10 June 1929, a story appeared in the Daily Mirror concerning some strange occurrences at the Rectory.2 The new incumbent and his wife, the Reverend and Mrs Eric Smith, had been startled by a series of peculiar happenings that couldn’t be rationally explained. Before they had arrived at the Rectory the previous autumn, they had heard rumours that it was haunted.3 According to the newspaper, Reverend Bull had often spoken of a remarkable experience he’d had one night, walking along the road outside the Rectory. First he’d heard the clatter of horses’ hoofs, then, on looking around, to his horror he saw an old-fashioned coach driven by two headless men.


The Smiths didn’t believe in ghosts and dismissed the rumours as local superstition. But as soon as they moved into the Rectory, they began to hear the sound of slow, dragging footsteps across the floor when they knew there was nobody else in the house. Concerned about these sinister noises, Reverend Smith kept vigil in the room where the sounds had occurred and, armed with a hockey stick, waited for them to resume. Once again, he heard the sound of feet treading the bare boards. He lashed out with the hockey stick at the spot where the footsteps seemed to be coming from, sending the stick whistling through the air. But the mysterious footsteps continued across the room.4


Then the Smiths’ maid, who they had brought with them from London, declared that she had seen a ghostly nun walking in the wood at the rear of the house. Terrified, she handed in her notice after only two days and returned to the city. She was replaced by a local girl who also claimed to have seen a nun leaning over a gate near the house. Just as Reverend Bull had done, she saw an old-fashioned coach on the lawn in the garden. She witnessed the apparition long enough to note the bay colour of the two coach horses.


These sightings seemed to confirm a local legend relating to a monastery that had once stood on the site of the Rectory. It had been the scene of a tragic – and gruesome – romance. A groom at the monastery had fallen in love with a sister at a nearby Catholic convent. They had clandestine meetings in the wood behind the monastery. When they finally arranged to elope together, another groom had a coach waiting in the road outside the wood so that they could make their escape. Here there were variations on the legend. Some locals said that the nun and her lover quarrelled and that he strangled her in the wood; he was then caught and beheaded for his villainy, together with the other groom. Others said that all three were caught by the monks and that both grooms were decapitated. The lovelorn nun was then bricked up in the walls of the monastery, buried alive. This tale of the tragic nun and ghostly coach had, the Daily Mirror correspondent observed, all the ingredients of a first-class ghost story. He now awaited further investigation by psychic experts.


The next day, Tuesday 11 June, Alexander Campbell, the editor of the Mirror, telephoned the offices of the National Laboratory for Psychical Research asking to speak to the founder and director of the organisation, Harry Price.5 Price was the most celebrated ghost hunter of the day – a national figure familiar to the general public as well as to journalists, with a body of published work. Campbell was told by Price’s secretary that he was ‘lunching at a friend’s house’ but gave him the telephone number where he could be reached. This was actually the number of Edward Saunders & Son in Cannon Street, one of the largest paper suppliers in London, who made paper bags, greaseproof paper and wrappings for tea. For Price led a double life, juggling his enthusiasm for psychical research with his day job as a paper salesman. The editor duly rang the number and was put through to Price. Campbell excitedly explained that a Mirror journalist and photographer were at that moment investigating some remarkable occurrences at a rectory in a small village in Essex. He wondered if Price could help in ‘unravelling the mystery’. Would he take up the case? Price, who was known for his desire for a good story over all else, was grateful for the tip-off and said he’d make arrangements to visit the Rectory immediately. Having acquainted himself with the Daily Mirror reports, he sent a telegram to the Smiths informing them that he would travel to the village by motor car, arriving around noon the next day. By return he received a desperate plea from Reverend Smith: ‘Thank God. Come Quickly. Will expect you for lunch.’6


Price was an expert in the exposure of fraud. In the Sunday Sentinel on Whit Sunday that year, he had contributed a feature laced with scepticism, entitled ‘My Adventures with Ghosts in Haunted Houses’. ‘A character in a certain ghost story once remarked,’ he wrote, ‘ “Rats is ghosts, and ghosts is rats.” 7




In nine cases out of ten this is true. Houses often acquire a reputation for being haunted when in reality, they contain nothing worse than rats, or an occasional tramp intent on finding shelter. The silence and darkness of night magnify our terrors. In the full light of day, very few ‘ghosts’ are about. It is in the stillness of the hours before dawn when, in old houses, the timbers warp and creak, that folk imagine unseen visitants. Still, there is always the tenth case. I have no doubt that some houses contain mysterious forces of which at the moment, we know nothing.8





Price would not be an easy investigator to convince. Or fool.


On 12 June, the Daily Mirror printed a letter from a Mrs Ernest Byford of Parsonage Farm in Newport, Essex, who shared her experiences at the Rectory from 1886:




Much of my youth was spent in Borley and district with my grandparents and it was common talk that the Rectory was haunted. Many people declared that they had seen figures walking at the bottom of the garden. I once worked at the Rectory, forty-three years ago, as an under-nursemaid, but I only stayed for a month, because the place was so weird. The other servants told me my bedroom was haunted, but I took little notice of them because I knew two of the ladies of the house had been sleeping there before me. But when I had been there a fortnight something awakened me in the dead of night. Someone was walking down the passage towards the door of my room and the sound they made suggested that they were wearing slippers. As the head nurse always called me at six o’clock, I thought it must be she, but nobody entered the room, and I suddenly thought of the ‘ghost’. The next morning, I asked the other four maids if they had come to my room, but they all said they had not, and tried to laugh me out of it. But I was convinced that somebody or something in slippers had been along that corridor and finally, I became so nervous that I left. My grandparents would never let me pass the building after dark and I would never venture into the garden or the wood at dusk.9





Mrs Byford’s testimony seemed to confirm that the strange happenings at Borley were more than a silly-season tabloid news story; the Rectory had been the focus of strange happenings for decades.


Price and his secretary, Lucie Kaye, filled the car – a two-seater Fiat – with their ghost hunters’ kit. Lucie was twenty-seven, with blonde bobbed hair and fashionable clothes, and was wonderfully self-possessed and capable. At forty-eight, Price was bald and stocky with a penetrating stare. As a sufferer of frequent migraines, the skin around his eyes was almost black, giving him, at times, an alarming appearance.10 His eyes ‘tended, at first, to be suspicious of you, as if he were uncertain whether you were a mocker or believer’.11 His voice was a mix of received pronunciation and cockney, betraying his south-east London roots, laced with a stutter that he had developed in his schooldays. He had no interest in clothes; the older and more decrepit his hat and suit, the greater was his affection for them. A heavy pipe-smoker, nothing but Balkan Sobranie Mixture from his tobacconist in London would satisfy him.12 Though at times he could be nervous and irritable, with a ‘peculiar genius for being rude to people’, Lucie generally found him a charming, considerate boss.13


They had packed all that was necessary for a ghost hunt: felt overshoes, steel measuring tape, screw eyes, lead post-office seals, a sealing tool, adhesive tape, electric bells, batteries and switches, a reflex camera, film packs and flashbulbs, a cinematograph camera and film with remote control, a portable telephone, a notebook with red, blue and black pencils, a ball of string, a torch, matches and a candle, a bowl of mercury and a thermometer. They also packed a medical box, which included a bottle of brandy ‘in case member of investigating staff or resident is injured or faints’.14 The pair headed out in the warm weather on the 60-mile drive to Borley.


Essex is the ancient kingdom of the East Saxons, the most southerly of the three counties that form the eastern plain of England. To the north it is bordered by the River Stour, to the east the North Sea, and to the south the Thames; the rivers Lea and Stort form its western boundary.15 In the late 1920s, despite its proximity to London, large parts of the county remained inaccessible by rail. The placid calm of Essex was still unspoiled by the rush and bustle of modern life, and it was as resolutely rural as if it had been on the other side of the country. It had a timeless air, as if its villages had existed for ever, having grown naturally out of the surrounding countryside. London was just a stain on the horizon. Before post-war development and the encroachment of the metropolis, the flat landscape, rarely rising more than 300 feet above sea level, was dominated by intensively cultivated farmland. Agriculture defined the area as well as the people who lived there and worked the land, dictating their activities, monopolising their interests and even providing the distinctive flavour of their speech. The regional dialect was as prevalent as it had been in the nineteenth century and many locals routinely used words that hadn’t changed since Saxon times: ‘Stop your clanjanderin, do!’ an Essex grandmother might reprimand her grandchildren. A rainy day might be ‘baingy’ and an untidy woman ‘slummocky’. Grammar was also specific to the locality: ‘I ent seen nothen of shee for a long while.’16 The character of the district was defined by a sense of humour as well as a guardedness in its attitude towards strangers. The further Price and Lucie drove away from London, the closer they approached a distant, ancient England where language, manners and beliefs were still firmly rooted in the past, barely touched by the technology, communications and speed of the twentieth century.


That Wednesday, 12 June, the British public were still reeling from the drama of the recent general election. It had been the first time that Lucie Kaye – as for all women over the age of twenty-one – had been able to cast her vote. Since 1918 only women over thirty and who owned property had been able to do so. The enfranchisement of young women had been key in deciding the fate of the nation at the polls. The Daily Mirror had warned that it was women’s duty to vote to ‘Keep the Socialists Out’, the Labour Party being one step, they shivered, from communists.17 In a special election feature in the Sunday Pictorial, ‘It’s the Man Who Pays’, F. Britten Austin had fuelled the paranoia of British men, arguing that ‘women are now in a numerical and effective predominance reducing the mere male to serf level. In his dealings with women man now has no rights, but only duties and liabilities while she has no duties or liabilities, but only rights.’18


On polling day, women had been eager to vote early, while hundreds of men took advantage of the prolonged heatwave to sunbathe in the parks. The Conservative leader had run a very personal campaign, led by the slogan ‘Safety First! Stanley Baldwin – The Man You Can Trust!’19 But he had failed to secure the trust (or votes) of an electorate enlarged by a generation of young women. Ramsay MacDonald’s Labour Party, whose campaign had focused on the economy and unemployment, formed a minority government, making it only Labour’s second term in office. As Price and Lucie drove out of London, the new prime minister further rang the changes by announcing the appointment of Susan Lawrence as Minister of Health. She would join her colleague, Margaret Bondfield, who on the previous Friday had taken up the post of Minister of Labour, making her the first woman cabinet member in British history. In Westminster, if not in Essex, times were changing indeed.20


Though Borley is in Essex, it is situated close to the north bank of the River Stour, which divides the county from Suffolk. The nearest town and large village, Sudbury and Long Melford, were over the county border in Suffolk, both of which had shops, pubs, banks and railway stations. At the time, Suffolk remained ‘shy and unsophisticated… a country for the individualist, for the explorer and the lover of loneliness’. The peninsular nature of East Anglia – bounded by the sea, estuaries and marshes – had led to a sense of isolation from the rest of England, the local people awed by a sense of threat; for this was old invasion country – first the Romans, then the Danes. When the Viking ‘great heathen army’ had invaded the low coastline in the ninth century and made its way up the marshy rivers, many Danish legends had been absorbed into local lore, and tales of Odin’s black dogs, their jaws dripping with fire, became the ‘Black Shuck’, a huge ghostly hound that ‘prowls along dark lanes and lonesome field footpaths, where, although his howling makes the hearer’s blood run cold, his footfalls make no sound’.21


There was no region where ‘superstition and ancient folklore kept so strong a hold as Essex’, where ‘a strong belief in the existence of devils prevailed’. Ghosts, apparitions and spirits were thought to haunt the area’s flatlands; a woman in white was said to appear among the ruins of Hadleigh Castle; and Anne Boleyn, perhaps England’s most ubiquitous ghost, was believed to visit the nursery of Rochford Hall at night. Another celebrity spectre, the highwayman Dick Turpin, was thought to visit the town of Loughton three times a year, galloping down Traps Hill on his mare, Black Bess. Even an oak tree in Great Hawkwell Wood was thought to be haunted by a shrieking boy whose own mother had murdered him; during the night it was said that his voice could be heard calling, ‘Oh, mother, mother, don’t kill me!’22


In the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, the Puritans, determined to rid the Protestant Church of the Catholic belief in holy water, exorcism and ghosts, took a stranglehold over Essex. This left the God-fearing locals defenceless against the supernatural forces that they stubbornly continued to believe in. Due to its reputation for the presence of evil spirits, Essex became renowned for witchcraft, more witches being executed there than in any other English county. In 1578, two Borley spinsters, Joan Norfolk and Margaret Welles, ‘likewise witches and enchantresses’, were tried together for bewitching and murdering another villager, John Fyrmyn.23 In 1645, the notorious witch-hunter Matthew Hopkins of Manningtree appointed himself Witch-Finder General, ‘a trade never hitherto taken up in England’.24 He is believed to have been responsible for the burning or hanging of over 200 ‘witches’ and boasted of executing sixty women in one year alone.25 Hopkins’s restless spirit was reputed to haunt the upper rooms in the Thorn Hotel at Mistley, which once served as the Witch-Finder General’s office.26


On the journey to the village, Price and Lucie took turns at the wheel, discussing what the trouble at the Rectory might be: mischievous adolescents, rats, practical jokers; a media stunt, perhaps? But in the case of Borley there was a sceptical journalist from a national newspaper involved. Price felt that there must be something authentic in the story. He and Lucie reached Sudbury about midday, ‘full of hope at what they were about to see’.27


The town was built by an ancient crossing of the River Stour, surrounded by water meadows and rolling hills. It had been a centre of the wool industry since the medieval period and, bolstered by the arrival of Huguenots fleeing from France, by the eighteenth century it had become famous for the production of silk. Many of Sudbury’s historic three-storey timber-framed houses had been built by prosperous cloth merchants, with distinctive large windows on the first floor to light the looms. Market Hill, the town square, was dominated by the flint-built St Peter’s Church, overlooking the market place. In front of the church, a statue erected just before the Great War commemorated the painter Thomas Gainsborough, the town’s most famous son. Lucie stopped the car to ask for directions to the Rectory. ‘Oh,’ one of the local men said, ‘you mean the most haunted house in England.’28 They would find Borley 2 ¼ miles north-west of Sudbury, taking the road to Long Melford and turning left at Rodbridge Corner. The locals pressed to know what Price was planning to do up at the Rectory: ‘No good ever come of seeing ghosts,’ they warned darkly.29


The land rose gently as they continued to drive a mile or so out of Sudbury. Finally, they reached the long, windswept crest of the hill.


They found Borley more a hamlet rather than a village. On the north side of the road the small stone church with a square bell tower was surrounded by a churchyard full of ancient gravestones and memorials. The pathway to the main door was edged by an avenue of topiary yew trees, curiously formal in this most rural of places. The view from the churchyard looking out over the Stour Valley offered a panorama of rural Suffolk. The fields rolled down to the river and then up again to the distant hills, the sweep wide and spacious. In the middle distance a tiny puff of smoke, as a locomotive found its way along the valley, served to emphasise the remoteness of the spot. Even in early summer, chill north-easterly winds swept across the valley, while those directly from the east brought cold, dry air from Scandinavia. These winds scoured the clay fields and sent up eddies of loam dust, the trees distorted into angular shapes by the force of the gusts. West of the church was a sixteenth-century manor house and across the road a farm and a modern, brick-built cottage. The Rectory itself stood opposite the church, hidden from the road by tall, dark elm trees. Otherwise there was nothing: no pub, no shop, no bus stop or telephone box. Borley was completely isolated, the silence broken only by hens clucking in the lane by the farm and rooks cawing in the empty churchyard.


Lucie swerved the car through the open gate into the semi-circular carriage driveway and stopped on the gravel outside the Rectory. Confronted with the house, she and Price were astonished by its overpowering style and scale. For this was not the honey-stoned, pleasingly symmetrical Georgian rectory of fiction, but a vast Victorian monstrosity in red brick. The side wall facing the road housed the main entrance, which formed the base of an imposing turret topped with fancy ironwork. Nothing about the design or materials from which the Rectory was built seemed to suit its rural setting; it was a suburban imposter. To the left of the main entrance, disfiguring the side aspect of the building, was a bricked-up window, like a blinded eye. To the right were the barred windows of the kitchens and servants’ quarters. Rather than a country parsonage, the Rectory gave the impression of a barracks or prison.30


At the front door Eric Smith and his wife were anxiously waiting for the visitors with Vernon Wall, the Daily Mirror journalist, who had been staying in Sudbury since the weekend. As they got out of the car, Price and his secretary were surprised to find that Smith was of mixed race. Lucie assumed the bespectacled rector was ‘pure Indian’ and thought him stout (‘one might even say, very fat’).31 His English wife, Mabel, seemed ‘kindly’, but ‘a very nervy person to say the least’.32 They were shown through the small porch and into the hall, quickly absorbing the cold, depressing atmosphere of the house, despite the stove that sat in the well of the turned staircase up to the first floor. The elms outside blocked the light, making the interior of the house dark and gloomy, cowing the visitors ‘into a feeling of despair’.33


The guests were shown into the dining room to the left of the hallway for lunch. Eric Smith took his place at the head of the dining table, facing his wife, with Lucie to his right and Wall to hers, their backs to the bay window that looked across the lawn. Price sat opposite, with a view of the garden, his back to the ‘monstrous’ multicoloured marble fireplace he enthusiastically noted was decorated with carved monks – a reference, he presumed, to the Rectory’s monastic roots. ‘Well executed’, he felt, ‘but sinister.’34


A luncheon of cold roast lamb with mint sauce, salad and boiled potatoes was served by the Smiths’ maid.35 Over the meal, the Smiths outlined how they had come to Borley and what had been troubling them since they’d arrived. Listening to their story, Price found them well travelled, hospitable, intelligent and ‘utterly sceptical as regards spirits’.36 Smith’s faith in the goodness of God was as steadfast, Lucie intuited, as the Rock of Gibraltar.37 Their trust in the powers of professional psychical researchers was like ‘a hurt child’s cry for assistance’.38 The couple claimed not to be psychic and knew nothing at all about psychical research. Though puzzled at what they had seen and heard, they weren’t afraid that anything would actually harm them. Of course, they admitted, their minds had been turned towards the subject of ghosts owing to so much local gossip but, in spite of this, nothing had occurred that they considered couldn’t be explained.39 It was, they told Price, mostly mischievous stuff. Silly, meaningless things, frequently destructive and noisy. But sometimes, frightening.40
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Mary Pearson points to where she saw the phantom coach










CHAPTER TWO THE THIRTEENTH MAN



1 November 1924–12 June 1929




The house, which somehow seemed to have formed itself, flying together into its own powerful pattern under the hands of its builders, fitting itself into its own construction of lines and angles, reared its great head back against the sky without concession to humanity. It was a house without kindness, never meant to be lived in, not a fit place for people or for love or for hope.


Shirley Jackson, The Haunting of Hill House1





Eric Smith was forty-four, born and educated in Calcutta (now Kolkata), the son of a Freemason. He was fond of sport, particularly athletics, in which he had excelled in his youth, and in middle age he had the robust build of a rugby player. He had graduated from the University of Calcutta in 1907 before joining the Indian Civil Service (ICS) as a clerk. A ban on Indians holding higher posts in government had been abolished in 1883, but in practice the ICS offered limited career development to non-whites. The fact that the examinations were held in London effectively barred Indians from joining the service, except those wealthy enough to afford the fare. Clerks of mixed race, like Eric Smith, were excluded from executive roles in the administration of their own country.


As well as the official strictures imposed on them, social attitudes to Anglo-Indians in India were superior and racist. Anglo-Indians found themselves in the uncomfortable position of not being sufficiently ‘English’ to be welcomed by the ex-patriate community, nor were they ‘Indian’ enough to feel fully integrated into the native population. Though some Anglo-Indians were highly esteemed, they were devoid of social prestige.


At the age of thirty-nine, Smith had married Mabel Hart, a shorthand typist, the eldest daughter of a railway clerk from Isleworth in Middlesex. Though her mother and grandmother were from a ‘Raj’ family and had both been born in India, Mabel had been born in England. Given the small number of British stationed in Calcutta, the Smiths and the Harts may have been acquainted or even related.


In this period, 20 per cent of women Mabel’s age in Britain were unmarried, the situation exacerbated by the loss of 740,000 men in the Great War, when a generation of unmarried women was declared ‘surplus’ – or, as the Daily Mail gleefully reported, ‘superfluous’.2 At forty-one, Mabel had joined the ‘fishing fleet’ of unmarried women who sailed from Britain to India in order to secure husbands. She and Smith married on 1 November 1924. Shortly afterwards, she had a miscarriage and was subsequently unable to conceive, sending her into a depression that ultimately brought an end to their life in India. Her husband applied to take two years’ furlough from the ICS so that they could travel home to England. As an uncovenanted civil servant he was not eligible for the £1,000-per-annum pension that senior white civil servants were due and instead, despite nearly twenty years of service, he would leave India with no money and no security.3 A devout Christian, he decided that if he could take holy orders in England, he would retire from the ICS and not return to India.


After a three-week voyage, the Smiths docked in London on 23 February 1926. A little vanity, perhaps: Mabel shaved a couple of years off her age in the passenger list. Eric then trained for two years at Chichester Theological College, which followed the Anglo-Catholic tradition determined to reassert the Catholicity of the church, embracing greater formality in worship, reintroducing vestments, ceremony, devotional images and sacred music. Many evangelical Anglicans felt marginalised by the growth of Anglo-Catholicism and dismissed Anglo-Catholic clergy as ‘unwholesome’ and ‘sentimental’,4 mocking their elaborate liturgy and vestments as effeminate.


Having completed his training, Eric Smith was then keen to take on his own parish with a property included, known as a benefice or ‘living’. But despite his university education and clerical training, he was unable to secure a parish of his own in England. It may be that his ethnicity made it difficult for him to secure a living. There were an estimated 7,128 Indians resident in Britain by 1931, in a total population of 44 million. Though there was a tradition of middle-class Indians in the law, academia, politics and business during the interwar period, the years that followed the First World War had seen an increasing tension in race relations throughout Britain. Race riots had taken place in London, Glasgow, Liverpool and Cardiff. With the shipping industry depressed, jobs were scarce, prompting the Coloured Alien Seamen Order of 1925, which classified colonial workers as ‘aliens’ and referred to the subsequent enforced repatriation of ‘Asiatics’. A ‘colour bar’ was experienced by non-whites of all classes and backgrounds in the 1920s and ’30s. Lodging houses, hotels, bars, restaurants and dance halls would routinely refuse the custom of Black or Asian customers. The writer and first Indian president of the Oxford Union, D. F. Karaka, insisted that ‘the Colour Bar is something real – something we have felt. It is not merely an obsession of those of us who complain about it.’5 One publication described the reality of the welcome afforded to members of the imperial family, such as Eric Smith, returning ‘home’ to Britain:




British imperialist agents in the colonies, especially the Church of England missionaries… try their best to paint England as the most democratic country in the world, where all peoples, irrespective of colour or race, are treated as equals. However, every negro, Indian, Arab or other coloured person who has ever lived in England knows from actual experience that all this missionary twaddle is nothing else but a lie.6





Since the death of Harry Bull, Borley Rectory had stood shuttered and empty for over twelve months. The appointment of a new rector was the responsibility of the Bishop of Chelmsford and Reverend Bull’s family, who formally remained patrons of the living. A rector (from the Latin for ‘ruler’) was responsible for the administrative operation of a parish. The rectory was not only the house the rector resided in, but part of a package of duties, rights, land and salary. Reflecting his high status, in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, a rector would generally reside in a grand property with some land attached, called the glebe.7 Where a rector was absent, a vicar (from the Latin vicarius, ‘substitute’) was appointed to deputise for the rector in his official duties.8 The incumbent rector drew income from parish taxes or tithes amounting to 10 per cent of the worth of the produce of parish lands. A vicar received smaller tithes and his home was a more modest building, known as a vicarage. By 1928, lay patronages such as the one at Borley were increasingly rare as bishops sought more control over appointments in their diocese. After the death of Harry Bull, his family left the disposition of the living at Borley solely in the hands of the Bishop, Dr Guy Warman.


Warman was an evangelical Anglican with progressive views, refusing, for instance, to wear a bishop’s mitre. He had co-founded the Group Brotherhood in 1905, proposing reform within the Church. He had little patience with those still fraught about the challenge to Christian belief made by Darwin’s theories and he was pragmatic about the seductive attractions of paganism as congregations immersed themselves in materialism in the wake of the Great War. He was no admirer either of what he believed to be reactionary Anglo-Catholics.


By the summer of 1928, having failed to secure a new rector for Borley, Warman was obliged to offer the living to Eric Smith. The relationship between them was cool from the start, and over the coming months became icy, with Smith’s Anglo-Catholicism at odds with Warman’s more radical ambitions for his diocese. Smith was not advised by Warman that the living at Borley had been vacant since Harry Bull’s death. Nor was he informed that, due to the sinister reputation that the Rectory had acquired, the position had already been refused by twelve other clergy. Eric Smith was the thirteenth candidate for the job.9


Having been used to the frantic heat of Calcutta, when they arrived in the village, the sense of isolation that the Smiths were met with came as a shock.10 On entering the house, they were further dismayed by its condition: the numbing cold; the smell of damp plaster, dust and decay. It had been built at the height of the Victorian period to accommodate a large family, staffed by an army of servants. The Smiths were childless; it would be just the two of them and a couple of cats in the vast mansion of twenty-six rooms. After Harry Bull’s death, all the furniture had been auctioned and the building left empty. In the succeeding year it had fallen into a state of disrepair. The exterior walls were strangled by creepers and ivy. The roof was in a deplorable condition, letting in water, which damaged the walls and plasterwork to such an extent that several of the bedrooms weren’t habitable. The structural timbers, creaking and shrunken over time, were riddled with deathwatch beetle, which made a tapping sound in order to attract mates, most audible on quiet nights. As this could often be heard during silent vigils kept by the bedside of the dying, the beetle had long been feared as a harbinger of death.


The kitchen and its cupboards were infested with rats and the cellar had been colonised by newts, lizards and toads.11 As there was no local rubbish collection, an internal courtyard formed by the three wings of the building was full of domestic waste. There were ‘enough bottles and tins to stock a village’.12 With no gas, the only heat was provided by open fires and an inadequate wood-burning stove in the hall. Without electricity, the gloomy interior was barely illuminated by paraffin lamps and candles, which cast shadows in every room and passage. With no mains supply, drinking water was pumped from a well near the kitchen door and rainwater was collected in a soft-water tank for laundry. Water for bathing and cooking had to be pumped from a well in the courtyard, 80 feet deep and covered with a 6-foot metal plate. A heavy iron wheel was used to pump water by hand up to a large cistern under the eaves. But this would sometimes break down, leaving the house with no sanitation at all. The cesspit in the garden was foul and the only bathroom suite – in the room above the porch – was damaged.13 Though the Smiths reported the state of the Rectory to the Bishop and the Sanitary Inspector, no action was taken.


The situation at Borley wasn’t unusual. By 1925, 20 per cent of English rectories were considered unsuitable for modern life because of their size or condition. Consequently, between 1919 and 1939, nearly 2,000 of the 12,000 rectories in England were sold off by the Church, relics of a more prosperous, more confident age.14 Since 1923, any improvements to a rectory were the responsibility of the incumbent rector, not the Church. The Smiths would be obliged to spend £200 of their own savings on making the house habitable. It was a large property, so the rates were also very high. Even before they moved into the house, they worried if they could afford to live there. But despite their misgivings, both were committed to their mission and looked forward to putting what seemed to be a very neglected parish – and an equally neglected rectory – in order.


The Smiths found that the farms in the district surrounding the Rectory grew predominantly arable crops, cultivated by traditional agricultural processes. Despite an increase in the use of tractors and steam engines since the war for harrowing and ploughing, horses continued to be the heart of British farming. Consequently, there was plenty of work for blacksmiths, who would also supply and repair agricultural implements – scythes, sickles, hay-rakes and pitchforks. Small fields with miles of ancient hedgerows, together with the retained stubble and grain during the winter, sustained a large population of native birds. Conditions for agricultural workers, though, were hard. In 1921, having previously encouraged the establishment of thousands of new smallholdings, the government abandoned wage controls while resuming the importation of cheap foreign food. The short post-war agricultural boom was over and farm prices collapsed. Wages for agricultural workers fell from thirty-seven shillings a week in 1921 to twenty-four shillings three years later. Many new landowners struggled to pay mortgages they had only recently taken on. Some were also staggered to find that they were obliged to pay an additional sum, which, as tenants, had previously been hidden in their rent. This hugely unpopular levy, known as tithe, was an ancient tax, two thirds of which was paid to the Ecclesiastical Commission at Westminster Abbey and amounted to a substantial yearly income – £3,000,000 – for the Church of England.


There was no public transport between Borley and Sudbury,15 the nearest town, so the diet of rural workers on low incomes had deteriorated as they had limited access to shops that offered goods at more competitive prices. Like 25 per cent of English parishes at the time, there was no piped water supply in the area and very few farms had access to the national grid. Life for the majority of parishioners at Borley was little advanced from that of their Victorian forbears. As the agricultural depression had taken hold, many farms had become impoverished, equipment was left to rust and farm buildings, hedges and ditches became dilapidated.





The summer of 1928 was one of seismic change for the increasingly beleaguered Church of England. The longstanding Archbishop of Canterbury, Randall Davidson, had announced his resignation after a quarter of a century. He had served in the post longer than any archbishop since the Reformation and, in a break with tradition, was the first to retire. He left the Church in conflict with the government and struggling with bitter internal division. In June, he had failed to secure support from the House of Commons for the proposed revisions to the 1662 Book of Common Prayer. When the bishops proposed to sanction the use of the revised version without the assent of Parliament, the Bishop of Birmingham, Ernest Barnes, cautioned that such a course of action would be disastrous, leading to the eventual disestablishment of the Church.16


In October 1928, the Church Congress at Cheltenham publicly exposed the various divisions and factions that were weakening the Church. The Bishop of Durham, Dr Hensley Henson, fiercely rebuked Anglo-Catholics and insisted that they should be reprimanded if they continued to promote High Church doctrine and ritual instead of the core articles of the Anglican creed. He warned that the economic dislocation caused by the war had left England in a ‘state of moral chaos’, alarmingly similar to that which had preceded the revolutions in France and Russia.17 Canon Streeter of Hereford agreed that ‘the masses had begun to ask questions’; young people were far more likely to learn about moral and religious questions from writers like George Bernard Shaw or H. G. Wells than they were from the Church.18 The Church must begin to think, write and preach in the language of the modern world if it was to stand any chance of survival. Always controversial, Ernest Barnes also used the conference as a forum to discuss his beliefs about life after death, which, he felt, had been ‘brought into clear relief’ by Einstein’s ‘doctrine’ of relativity.19 As Einstein had demonstrated, if space and time – like body and personality – formed a single complex, mankind ‘had no right to postulate that in the world to come part of this complex will be destroyed while the other remains intact.’


As the Church Congress continued to broadcast the Church’s crises of identity and purpose, the Daily Mirror reported that Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, the novelist and great advocate of spiritualism, suggested, in contrast, that there had been a boom in spiritualist churches since the war, with as many as 550 in Britain, with 200,000 believers. He imagined that in the future every police station would have a clairvoyant in attendance, acting as a sort of psychic detective: ‘every offence will be hunted down so that crime will become very difficult, if not impossible’.20 Doyle anticipated that clairvoyants would be able to tell who actually committed a crime. ‘If you give them a portion of a dress of a murdered person,’ he said, ‘they are frequently able to throw themselves back to the time of a murder and get a kind of intimation of the circumstances of the murder and how it was done.’21





The Smiths moved into the Rectory on 2 October 1928, bringing with them a maid from Clacton, who they’d engaged in London.22 Charles Pilgrim, a steady, reliable old man who lived in the village, was employed to work in the garden.23 They decided to live in only five of the rooms in the house: the drawing room, dining room, library and two of the bedrooms in the old servants’ quarters in the corner of the house – the rest of the rooms, even the principal bedrooms, being uninhabitable. The damaged bathroom suite was thrown away and they fitted a modern bathroom, with a hot-water cylinder and an airing cupboard in one of the bedrooms. Hot water for the kitchen was provided by its stove, a coal-fired system, much like an Aga. But with so many doors and large windows throughout the house, the Smiths soon realised how icy-cold and draughty living there was going to be.


During the first two days, they worked hard putting the house in order, though they were chilled by rumours from the locals that the Rectory garden had once been the site of a plague pit. One afternoon, Mabel was clearing out the cupboards in the library when she came across a pile of rubbish. Among it, she was shocked to find a human skull. In pristine condition with perfect teeth, it seemed to be the skull of a young woman. They had this gruesome find buried in the churchyard across the road. But it left them unsettled, discomforted, uneasy.24 Mabel also noticed that the door to the cellar that she had previously found locked before they moved in was now open and she was able to look inside. The cellar was piled with empty wine bottles. She came across a small bottle that seemed newer and cleaner than the others. It was labelled ‘Poison’.25


On the third day of their occupancy, realising that the maid had been working constantly since they had arrived, Mabel suggested that as it was a fine autumn afternoon, the girl might like to take a break and go out for a ride on her bicycle, and perhaps get to know the locality. This she did. But a few minutes later she returned in a state of hysteria, her clothes covered in mud. She had been cycling past the front gate when she saw the figure of a nun. Giving the nun a second glance, she realised she could see right through her. ‘I was so frightened,’ she told the Smiths, ‘that I fell off my bicycle into the ditch.’26 They smiled and frowned; the girl must have imagined it. But she was insistent; she was quite sure of what she had seen. Despite their protestations, the maid handed in her notice immediately. Coming from India, where servants were plentiful and cheap, the prospect of running the large house without help was daunting. With neither staff nor telephone, the Smiths felt even more isolated.


Over time they began to feel that there was something not right at the Rectory. At night, when they retired to bed, they heard heavy, muffled footsteps passing their bedroom door and they’d find that doors and windows had been opened or closed, with no explanation. One afternoon, Eric Smith was in the house alone when, on walking through the archway from the master bedroom to the landing, he heard sibilant whisperings over his head. At a loss to explain them, he walked slowly across the landing, but the sounds followed. As he passed back under the archway, the whispering stopped abruptly, as though a wireless set had been switched off. He returned across the landing but the sound had gone. Wondering if some of the locals might be playing a trick, one evening he waited by the dark landing armed with a hockey stick, hoping to catch out any hoaxers. As before, the whispering started – as though three people were talking together in hushed voices. Smith quickly dashed onto the landing and hit out left and right with the hockey stick. But there was nobody there. The whispering continued, then suddenly stopped as though the voices had vanished into the wall.27


Not wanting to alarm her, Smith didn’t mention the strange noises to his wife. Mysterious things continued to happen. The tablecloth laid for breakfast would be found tugged and crooked in the morning, the crockery out of place. The house cats would often seem to be staring intently at something invisible. And late at night, it sounded as though bricks were being hurled with great force at the ceiling in the Smiths’ bedroom.28


Alone in the house late one evening and hearing the gate being opened, Mabel hoped that nobody was coming to call at such a late hour. Being in so isolated an area, she was nervous of going out to the front door to see who it was, so she took a paraffin lamp and went to look out of one of the windows. As she lifted the lamp, she saw what appeared to be two headlamps and the outline of some sort of vehicle in the drive, perhaps a coach. But there was no sound of a car or other vehicle. Shortly afterwards, when her husband came home, she mentioned what she had seen, but he assured her that the drive was empty.29


As was the custom, every afternoon for the first six weeks after their arrival, Mabel received calls from the well-to-do matrons of the parish. These included Lady Whitehouse, who lived nearby at Arthur Hall on the Melford Road. She was also visited by Mrs Payne of Borley Hall, the ancient manor house down by the River Stour, and Mrs Bigg, a farmer’s wife who was the Smiths’ nearest neighbour, living across the road next to the church, at Borley Place. Curious to meet the new arrivals from India, they found the Smiths’ manners alien, their tastes foreign. Anglo-Indians returning to England, George Orwell observed, with their carved teak furniture, brass trays, yellowing photographs of men in sun-helmets and Hindustani vocabulary, created ‘a sort of little world of their own… a kind of cyst.’ He felt that it was ‘almost impossible, when you get inside these people’s houses, to remember that out in the street it’s England and the twentieth century. As soon as you set foot inside the front door you’re in India in the eighties.’30 The ladies would stay for exactly fifteen minutes before departing, leaving their card in a metal bowl on the table in the hall. Mabel was greeted with sympathy, if not pity: ‘You are brave. I wouldn’t stay [here] another day.’31 With growing unease, the Smiths began to learn the legends associated with the house from the villagers – the forlorn nun, the phantom coach. The well-travelled and well-educated Smiths, however, thought the locals – many of whom were illiterate – were simply steeped in ‘country ignorance’.32


Eric Smith soon began to realise that stepping into Harry Bull’s shoes would not be easy. Borley was a small, tight-knit rural community of only 121 parishioners, who had always enjoyed a good relationship with their rector, who had acted, in effect, as the local squire. The Bulls, their tastes, habits and network of relationships had been integral to the life of the village since the middle of the nineteenth century. Since Harry Bull’s death, and his widow’s departure from the house, the villagers had been able to behave as they wished, with courting couples and children using the Rectory at their convenience. Many of them didn’t want a new clergyman occupying the Rectory. They didn’t welcome an Anglo-Catholic rector, with his belief in ritual, the intercession of saints and the Virgin Mary, when they had contentedly followed the Low Church ministry of the Bulls since the 1860s. Not only was Smith Anglo-Catholic, he was a foreigner, and a brown foreigner at that. Having such a different background and experience, Eric Smith struggled to relate to the well-to-do members of the parish or to the increasingly desperate farmworkers trying to make ends meet. As far as the locals were concerned, he was an interloper. At the same time. William Bigg of Borley Place had been churchwarden during Harry Bull’s time, dealing with church matters since his death. He resented relinquishing his authority now that the new rector had arrived. This made Smith’s church responsibilities difficult. The parish was at the heart of the little rural community, and the rector and his wife were leading figures in it. As well as daily services, he would celebrate christenings, weddings, funerals and the major events in the church calendar. His wife would provide much of the administrative help for parish matters and for local charities, alongside the running of the large and inconvenient house. The Rectory hosted mothers’ meetings, choir practice on Friday evenings, Sunday School and parish meetings. It was used, effectively, as a community centre. The locals were used to having regular access to the public rooms of the house, including those on the upper floor, where the lavatory and the schoolroom were situated. But since the arrival of the new rector and his wife, many would refuse to come to meetings at the Rectory, nor would they walk past it after dark.33


After the departure of their maid, Mabel Smith contacted an agency that was the main supplier of domestic servants in the region. Following the Great War, servants had become hard to source and difficult to keep. Young women used to the freedom and higher wages in wartime factories were reluctant to return to the conditions, regulations and poor pay of domestic service. Mrs Smith engaged Mary Pearson, a fifteen-year-old girl who came from the nearby village of Belchamp Walter.34 She was, to the Smiths’ relief, a ‘sensible, nice girl’.35 As well as a domestic support to Mrs Smith, with whom she developed a warm relationship, Mary also became witness to the strange happenings at the Rectory.


One night after dark, Mabel was returning to the Rectory from the church, entering the house at the back door, by the scullery. She noticed that there seemed to be a light in the schoolroom on the first floor, and presumed that it must be Mary. When Mrs Smith asked her, Mary insisted that she hadn’t been in the schoolroom at all. They went upstairs together, only to find the room in darkness.36 On another night, around twilight, the Smiths had gone out for the evening, leaving Mary alone in the house. She was understandably nervous, given the rumours she’d heard about the ghosts. She had gone to lock the library door and was looking through the window, across the veranda, when she saw what she took to be a horse and cart crossing the Rectory lawn. Or could it have been a coach?37


For much of the time, the Smiths didn’t take the strange phenomena at the Rectory seriously. Mabel and Mary would often laugh together about the very idea of ghosts.38 Mary’s boyfriend, 25-year-old Fred Tatum, a local bad lad who’d been convicted for stealing rabbits and did odd jobs around the house and garden, also joined in the fun. He’d often play the fool by walking around with his coat over his head, pretending to be a headless spook.


However, the strange noises and occurrences got worse. They would find keys from the doors on the floor, 2 or 3 feet away, as though they had been shot from the locks. The house bells, formerly used to summon the servants, would ring around the Rectory incessantly. These were rung by a cord or lever in each room; the bell wires ran through tubes in the walls to a lever in the attic and fed through the rooms on both floors of the house – eighteen bells in all. A board in the kitchen passage indicated in which room the bell had been rung. Now the bells would ring at all hours of the day and night, to such an extent that an exasperated Reverend Smith had many of the wires cut. But still they would ring, without, it seemed, human agency. Puzzled, rather than alarmed, the Smiths decided to consult the surviving siblings of Harry Bull. What could be behind the strange happenings at the Rectory? Might it be locals playing pranks? Or something more sinister?


The unmarried Bull sisters lived together at Chilton Lodge in Great Cornard, just outside Sudbury. Ethel, Freda and Constance had all been born and raised at the Rectory and it had been their home until their brother Harry had married. The sixty-year-old Ethel Bull found the new rector ‘quite charming, but an ignoramus in psychic matters’. His wife, whom she did not take to, seemed to her to be ‘frightened of shadows’. Miss Bull confirmed to the Smiths that the Rectory was indeed haunted and that, many years before, she had seen the ghostly nun in the garden with her own eyes. What’s more, this incident had been witnessed by three of her seven sisters. She confirmed that the window in the dining room at the Rectory had been bricked up by their father because they hadn’t wanted to see the nun leaning over the gate outside and staring in at the window when they were eating. She also went on to share some family confidences. All was not as it seemed, so she and her sisters believed, with the death of their brother. They were convinced that their sister-in-law had unduly influenced Harry during his illness. Shortly before his death, he had altered his will, in which he had left his wife a life interest in his estate.39 His siblings were to receive nothing until Ivy’s death. After he died, she and her daughter moved out of the Rectory and the sisters found a bottle half-full of sugar of lead in the cellar. Also known as lead acetate, the compound served innocent domestic functions, being routinely used in cosmetics and for thinning paints and varnishes – but in high doses it could be fatal. It was this bottle that Mabel Smith had discovered in the cellar on their arrival at the Rectory and which the Bull sisters suspected Ivy had used to poison their brother. A conventional couple, the Smiths found this scenario extremely unnerving. They had taken on an expensive and inconvenient house, which was already plagued by strange phenomena that they couldn’t explain. Now it appeared to be the background to an unpleasant inheritance squabble, if not murder.


The severe winter of 1928 was one of the coldest on record. Ice froze the River Thames for the first time in a generation. The country roads around Borley were impassable with snow and Eric Smith went about his parish duties on foot in icy temperatures, leaning into the bitter north-easterly winds. Surrounded by dozens of empty rooms, they found the dilapidated house difficult to heat and impossible to protect from the harsh weather. Mabel Smith, so used to the Indian climate, began to detest the unforgiving cold of the rural English winter.


The weeks leading up to Christmas were increasingly grim. The local Framlingham Gazette printed a dour review of a year of ‘despair in agriculture, bad trade and an overwhelming amount of unemployment’.40 Throughout Advent, as they prepared for one of the busiest periods of the Church year, the Smiths felt tormented by ghosts. That year’s newspaper advertising campaign for Bovril was a line drawing of an Elizabethan wraith, complete with chains around his wrists, reading a newspaper advertisement proclaiming ‘Bovril: the Proved Body Builder.’41 At 9.15 p.m. on 22 December, after a programme of carols and Christmas music, the BBC broadcast a talk about ghosts by the historian and writer Gerald Heard.42 This was followed on Christmas Eve by a reading of E. F. Benson’s ‘flesh-creeper’ The Confession of Charles Linkworth, a chillingly modern ghost story. In it, the spirit of an executed murderer, desperate to confess his crimes, makes telephone calls from beyond the grave to the doctor who had conducted his post-mortem.


As well as the tale of foul play regarding Harry Bull’s death, Mabel picked up gossip in the village of more tragedy from the Rectory’s dark past. It was rumoured that in the previous century, a female servant had given birth to Henry Dawson Bull’s child, but the baby had been hidden away.43 A cook, it was said, had died in mysterious circumstances in the kitchen in the rector’s arms. Inspired by these gruesome legends, during the winter evenings, Mabel started to write a story of her own. She already wrote as a hobby – mostly fiction and devotional stories. Her tale was not a ghost story, though, but a murder mystery. Putting her recent experiences and grim surroundings to creative use, Mabel’s novel was set in a large, creepy house in an isolated rural village, haunted by legends and superstition; it all began with the discovery of a skull in a cupboard. She was rather pleased with the title, which she thought ‘most lurid’: Murder at the Parsonage.44


At the beginning of January, after fewer than six months in the Rectory, Mabel was finding the house not only depressing, but oppressing. Her husband was increasingly concerned that, she being already highly strung, the house itself was draining her of energy, infecting her moods and making her ill. It was becoming impossible for him to carry out his normal parish duties, so concerned was he about her welfare; he ‘always worried over [her] and hated to think [she] might get frightened’.45 Some sort of drastic action was needed.


The Smiths appealed to Dr Warman that the living conditions at the Rectory were intolerable and requested a transfer to another parish. Mabel stressed the fact that, as well as the appalling condition of the property, it was rumoured to be haunted. The Bishop, however, was a formidable character and firm administrator. Harry Bull had lived happily at Borley Rectory for over thirty years without any such fuss about ghosts; the Smiths had been resident there for only a matter of months. Warman felt that the new incumbent and his wife – needy and neurotic in equal measure – were raising an unnecessary ‘mare’s nest’ and dismissed their complaints.


Warman’s disdain for Eric Smith was also complicated by his own personal ambitions; he was to take over as Bishop of Manchester early in 1929 and must have had little patience for the Smiths’ local difficulties. At the same time, the Ecclesiastical Commission had plans for Borley. On Harry Bull’s death, the Church had bought the freehold of the Rectory from the Bull family. But behind closed doors, they had decided that the tiny rural parish was surplus and that it should be united with that of nearby Liston. In the November of 1928, with Warman’s approval, the Commission had agreed that the two parishes would be amalgamated the next time a vacancy came up in one of them. The incumbent rector of the two parishes would live at the much more comfortable Liston Rectory, earning a substantially higher salary of £400 a year. Borley Rectory would be sold. This would have been an ideal solution for the Smiths, but it was not suggested to them as a possibility. As far as Warman was concerned, no alternative living would be offered to Eric Smith; it was Borley or nothing. When Warman took up his post in Manchester in January 1929, the Smiths may have hoped that his successor, Henry Wilson, would look on their situation more sympathetically, but he was equally dismissive, if not more so, rejecting their concerns with ‘sulphurous sarcasm’.46


On Whit Sunday, 19 May, Mabel came across Harry Price’s feature in the Sunday Sentinel in which he had declared, ‘I have no doubt that some houses contain mysterious forces of which at the moment, we know nothing.’ Might the Rectory be a ‘tenth case’ that he wrote of, infected by such mysterious forces? With she and her husband strangers to the village, with few friends and no support forthcoming from the diocese, Mabel decided to write to their daily newspaper, the Mirror, for advice. The couple were keen to consult a psychical research organisation to investigate the Rectory. She wanted to prove that there was nothing sinister or supernatural there and to reassure the ‘rustics’ of the parish that there were no ghosts, only ‘silly tales’.47 At the same time, this strategy would have an additional purpose: an official investigation might also add weight and credibility to their requirement to the new Bishop that they be relocated to another parish. Naively, perhaps, having requested the expertise of a psychical researcher to hunt a ghost, the Smiths had not anticipated the arrival on their doorstep of a journalist hungry for a story.
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The Summer House










CHAPTER THREE SIXTEEN HOURS OF THRILLS!



12–13 June 1929




It would be difficult to imagine a more ghostly place than Borley. The very atmosphere is uncanny, and as one moves through passages and corridors, one instinctively feels that he is back again in the dead ages. Conversation is suddenly interrupted by a noise or a tapping for which there is no natural explanation and as one treads from one old fashioned room to another, the very flooring seems to echo with sinister sounds.


Midland Advertiser, 21 November 19291





After a pudding of seasonal gooseberry tart,2 Price and Lucie proceeded to make an assessment of the house and gardens, the site covering 3.7 acres in all. When it was first built, the Rectory had been L-shaped, but some years later another wing had been added. This made the building an almost complete rectangle, with an uncovered brick courtyard, leaving it an awkward-shaped rabbit warren. On the ground floor were a large and lofty drawing room and dining room, each 20 feet by 16 feet and nearly 11 feet high, with a bay window overlooking the garden.3 Outside, these were spanned by a glass-roofed veranda that was accessed by French windows in the library. Aesthetically, this was the true front of the house, rather than the ugly side aspect that faced the church and the road. Price noted that all the main rooms on the ground floor were fitted with heavy wooden shutters and he wondered why they were needed in such a remote country hamlet where even a wandering tramp must have been a novelty.


The servants’ quarters – a kitchen, pantry, scullery, dairy, larder and servants’ hall – were accessed through a green baize door to the right of the central staircase in the hall. The bars at the windows had not been installed to keep burglars out, but rather to prevent the maids from slipping out surreptitiously at night. Including the French windows, there were five entrances to the house and a trap door in the courtyard giving access to the cellar. As well as the main stairs, two back-staircases allowed access to the floor above. On the first floor, there were eleven bedrooms, including a master bedroom above the library, known as the ‘Blue Room’. A bathroom and separate lavatory completed the rooms on the first floor. Price and Lucie climbed a further staircase to the attics, where they crawled on their hands and knees as they pointed their torches, illuminating the signatures of some of the men who had built the house scrawled on the rafters. They searched every nook and cranny, tested all the doors, locks and windows, measured the walls, cupboards and floors, looking for hiding places or secret entrances. But they found nothing. Everything seemed to be in order. Finally, they explored the cellars, which could also be accessed by the kitchen passage. They extended under the main hall, the major part of the library and a corner of the dining room. Switching on their torches, they found the cellars damp and slimy, divided by partition walls and full of empty wine bottles.4


They were relieved to get out into the fresh air of the Rectory garden. The grounds were beautiful, long and narrow, with some fine mature trees – elms and copper beeches. At the bottom of the lawn was an ancient cedar of Lebanon next to a large octagonal summer house that backed onto the road. The Smiths believed this had been built by Henry Dawson Bull in order to watch the ghost as she proceeded down the ‘Nun’s Walk’, which ran down the south side of the lawn, east to west, parallel to the boundary wall.5 Halfway down the garden was a stream that divided it into two, with a little ornamental bridge. Just across the stream to the right was a small cemetery with several tiny headstones, memorials to ‘Jem’, ‘Rollo’ and ‘Sandy’; the resting place for Harry Bull’s many deceased cats. Another timber summer house, Gothic in design, was almost hidden by brambles at the extreme east end of the garden.6


Over tea, the Smiths outlined the various local legends and rumours that they had been told about the Rectory since they had moved in. They advised Price that Harry Bull’s sisters at Chilton Lodge would be able to tell him more. It had been arranged for two of them to meet Price that evening and join them for a seance in the Blue Room. This room was thought to be particularly haunted as both Harry Bull and his father had died in it.


Other than the front door and the French windows in the library, Price and Lucie sealed every door and window in the house, inserting screw eyes into each doorpost and window frame, through which they threaded tape that was then knotted and sealed with lead post-office seals. They then settled in for a night-time vigil. The Smiths and Price’s secretary were to record any unusual happenings inside the house, with Lucie stationed in the hall by the front door and the Smiths in the drawing room. Price and Wall were to keep watch in the garden. The journalist would watch the Nun’s Walk and Price would observe the back of the house where a light had mysteriously appeared in one of the first-floor windows the night before. By dusk, they were smoking their pipes in the summer house opposite the Nun’s Walk, waiting for nightfall.


After about an hour of silence and darkness, Wall suddenly grabbed Price’s arm. He had seen something; ‘There she is!’ he whispered.7 Before Price could stop him, Wall had dashed across the lawn. But owing to the deep shadows, it wasn’t possible for him to discern exactly what he had seen. By the time he had reached the Nun’s Walk, the figure or apparition – whatever it was – had vanished. Disappointed, and feeling they had missed their opportunity, the two men strolled towards the house, discussing what Wall had seen. But just as they approached the French windows, there was a terrific crash. A pane of glass from the roof of the veranda smashed at their feet, missing them by inches.


They ran inside and up the stairs, together with Lucie, to inspect the room above the veranda. Pointing their torches in the darkness, they found nothing. While in the Blue Room, Lucie noted two particularly ugly red and white vases on either side of the mantelpiece. They then made their way down the stairs, Lucie leading, with Price at the rear. Suddenly, something flew at considerable speed past Wall’s head, again missing him by inches. It continued down the staircase, hitting the iron stove in the hall, shattering on the floor. They raced down the stairs, pointing their torches. At the same time, the Smiths rushed out of the drawing room to see what the commotion was. At the base of the stove were the broken pieces of one of the red and white vases that had stood on the mantel in the bedroom. Feeling guilty for having made disparaging remarks about them moments before, Lucie instinctively apologised to the Smiths.8 She, Price and Wall sat on the stairs in anticipation of more phenomena. They waited in the darkness, alert to any sound or movement.


Just as Wall was about to ask Price if they had waited long enough, an object suddenly hit his hand. It went tumbling down the stairs followed by what appeared to be some pebbles. They ran up the stairs again, but could find nothing that could have propelled the objects. When they returned to the bottom of the staircase and switched their torches on, among the pebbles at the foot of it they found a mothball. Wall laughed at the idea of a ghost throwing mothballs about, but Price told him that the throwing of stones was very common among spirits. There was even a word for the throwing of stones in the lore of witchcraft and demonology: lithobolia.


Now that night had descended, the house was lit only by lamplight. After the excitement, Eric Smith took one of the oil lamps and showed Lucie and Price to the rooms they would be occupying for the night. In the room Lucie was to sleep in, he had hung various holy pictures and said a prayer for her safe-keeping. He then guided them across the landing and showed them into the Blue Room, which had been prepared for Price. Price looked dubious and murmured aside to Lucie that no one had said any prayers for him.9


At 9.30 p.m., as arranged, Ethel and Mabel Bull were driven over to the Rectory from Great Cornard and introduced to Price, Lucie and Vernon Wall. Fred Tatum went home and Mary Pearson went to bed. The Smiths, having been asked to keep to their room and leave the house to Price’s authority, provided their visitors with a Thermos of coffee and some sandwiches before retiring to bed.10


Cold and depressing,11 the master bedroom was decorated with a gentian blue wallpaper. The room was simply furnished with a bed, a couple of chairs and an old-fashioned dressing table with a mirror in front of the window. To the right of the door was a fireplace with a table in front of it, and there was a wash basin and jug on a stand by the door. A door in the left-hand wall opened into a small dressing room. The Bull sisters sat in the two chairs and the others on the bed. They left the door open and made sure that the window was shut. All was quiet.


After about twenty minutes they heard a distinct knock from near the window. Hushed and tense, they waited. Then it came again: a clear, definite knocking, like a knuckle on wood or the branch of a tree knocking against a window pane. The noise seemed peculiarly regular, so they got up and investigated the room. But the source of the sound wasn’t from the window. It seemed to come from the back of the mirror attached to the dressing table. The knocks continued off and on with each of the party’s heads within inches of the mirror. Used to the form of seances, Lucie waited for a hiatus in the knocks and then addressed the spirit: ‘If any entity is present here tonight, will it please make itself known? One knock for “yes”, twice for “no” and three times for “doubtful” ’.12 She began to ask questions and then they talked to an apparently intelligent entity for about an hour, smoking and chatting ‘as if [they] were in the Rectory drawing room instead of the room that is supposed to be haunted’.13


Meanwhile, down the passage, the anxious rector and his wife couldn’t sleep. Mabel suggested that they should make some tea and take it along to the guests. When they tried to open it, they found that their bedroom doorknob had been tied with cotton thread and a red cross had been drawn on the door. There was chalk over the floor and other paraphernalia to identify ghosts on the landing.14 Having made the tea in the kitchen, when they arrived at the Blue Room it was in darkness, but they found the visitors in an excited state. The most extraordinary thing had just happened: the others had been listening to the knocking at the dressing table when they had suddenly heard a noise on the other side of the room. A cake of soap from the washstand had been thrown against a china jug on the floor. The Smiths laughed at the idea of the jumping soap. Mabel asked if she might turn up the lamps.15


As they drank the tea, Price wondered if Mrs Smith had heard knocks in the room before? ‘Yes,’ she replied, ‘I often read or sew in this room and it is the rosebush that knocks against the window.’16 Now that they were up and awake, Price asked the rector and his wife if they would join them in a seance. Though uncomfortable with the idea, the Smiths agreed in order to please their guests. The lamps were extinguished and they settled down to the sitting in the darkness. After a while, Price proceeded to ask further questions, prompted by the Bull sisters:




Is that Harry Bull?


One knock. (Yes)


Are you happy?


Two knocks. (No)


Do you mind Mr and Mrs Smith being here?


Two knocks. (No)


Is there money trouble?


One knock. (Yes)


Were you killed?


One knock. (Yes)17





The sitters were astonished to witness ‘Harry Bull’ identify his murderer as his own wife. He discussed his unhappy marriage to Ivy and appealed to them for help regarding his will as it was being ‘misinterpreted’.18 The Smiths were extremely concerned at the direction the questioning was taking. What’s more, these personal – and libellous – family issues relating to their patrons were being openly discussed in their very presence and with a journalist as a witness. Eric Smith demanded that the seance end immediately and Price duly brought it to a close. The Bull sisters returned to Chilton Lodge, Wall left for London in his car and an exhausted Price and Lucie retired to bed. Back in their bedroom, the rector told his wife that he would never take part in such an unsavoury episode again.19


Lucie slept well for a couple of hours but was later woken with a shock. Price was standing at the foot of her bed, a flickering candle throwing fantastic shadows across his face. ‘Let’s get out of here!’ he said.20 He hadn’t slept a wink and had one of his vicious headaches. He begged her to drive him to Sudbury to catch an early train. Unimpressed at being woken, Lucie told him that it was far too early even for the milk train, so he should wait another hour. Now awake, Lucie read for a while, then crept along the landing to find Price in his room – fully dressed and sound asleep on top of the bedclothes. At breakfast with the Smiths, he insisted that absolutely nothing would induce him to undress in ‘that room’, nor would he spend another night there.21 Lucie later recalled that it was ‘the only time I ever knew the atmosphere of a haunted house get the better of him,’22 though Price would write much more enthusiastically about the events he’d witnessed at the Rectory that night: ‘Never have such phenomena impressed me as they did on this historic night. Sixteen hours of thrills!’23 Mr and Mrs Smith were disappointed that Price wanted to leave, but he was adamant. He did, however, agree for Lucie to stay on, partly as company for Mabel, who seemed exhausted by months of disturbed and sleepless nights.


Later that morning, Lucie ran Price to Sudbury to catch the train and then drove back to the Rectory, where she spent a quiet, uneventful day chatting with Mrs Smith, who was glad of the novelty of female company. Everything was perfectly quiet and there were no phenomena at all. During their conversation, Mabel wondered at the strange occurrences since Price had arrived. Lucie admitted that he did seem to attract the attention of spirits wherever he went.24


During the afternoon, news came that Price’s arrival in Borley had badly upset the neighbourhood; some of the locals resented the presence of a ghost hunter in their village.25 But it was also rumoured that an enterprising coach firm had arranged for an outing to the Rectory that night, advertising the trip, ‘Come and see the Borley ghost!’26 Neither the Smiths nor Lucie could quite believe it as, for months, no local would willingly pass the Rectory after sundown. Mabel Smith was convinced that everyone had gone crazy and wondered what on earth she and her husband had stumbled into.27 As a precaution, Eric Smith closed the gates to the Rectory and they waited to see what the evening would bring.


Later that night, sightseers started to arrive at the Rectory on foot. Soon they were joined by coachloads of families – many of them primed with drink – with mouth organs, beer bottles, penny whistles and even accordions.28 Hundreds of curious visitors swarmed on the lawn in front of the Rectory, trampling over the garden, singing and shouting at the top of their voices, some becoming hysterical. Mary Pearson ran out with the missionary box and asked the revellers to make a donation if they wanted to see the ‘Haunted Wood’.29 As the lairy crowd continued to drink, they became impatient for an appearance from the ghostly nun or the phantom carriage and started throwing empty bottles at the house, smashing the drawing room windows. The terrified Smiths drew all the shutters on the ground floor. Afraid that the drunken mob might wreck the place, Mabel asked Lucie if she would drive to the police station and alert them.30 Eric Smith told her where she would find the local constable and, taking the lantern, escorted Lucie to her Fiat. Having unlatched the gates, he berated the drunken crowd on the lawn who briefly listened in sullen silence as Lucie drove away.31


When she reached his house, the Borley constable wasn’t in, so Lucie carried on to Sudbury Police Station. Once she arrived there, she was informed that Borley was in Essex, not Suffolk, as Sudbury was, so she would need to go to Braintree, fifteen miles away, to ask for help. By the time she got there, she was told by the duty sergeant that an inspector had already been sent to Borley, having heard of the coach parties and the crowds that had been targeting the Rectory. Lucie returned to Borley in the early hours of the morning; the mob had been dispersed, the coaches had gone and the Rectory was quiet. A shaken and exhausted Mrs Smith was still up, awaiting Lucie’s return with a pot of coffee.


The next morning, after little sleep, Lucie and the Smiths assessed the damage that the crowds had done. There were bottles and rubbish all over the garden, flowers and shrubs trampled and windows broken in the house. The sightseers had inflicted ‘more damage than an army of ghosts would have made in a century of concentrated haunting’.32 A police constable was stationed outside the front door to keep sightseers away as Lucie helped the anguished rector and his wife clear up the devastated house and garden.


The Smiths were stunned and frightened by the activity of the preceding twenty-four hours. They had written to the Daily Mirror with stories of occasional strange noises and lights, spectral coaches and phantom nuns – generic English spooks with perhaps a touch of local mischief. Until June 1929, Borley Rectory had been no different to dozens of old, dark houses throughout England that possessed a local ghost story. But in the course of a single day, the nature of the phenomena had become violent and personal: broken glass, smashed vases, knocking mirrors, mothballs and stones flying through the air – and now, accusations of murder from beyond the grave and coach parties invading the grounds and vandalising the house. A ghost story that had once been a local legend was suddenly now a national talking point in bold, tabloid print. All this drama had only started with the arrival of the press and Harry Price. It seemed that by inviting them into their home, the bewildered Smiths had unwittingly awoken an entirely different variety of spirit: a poltergeist.
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CHAPTER FOUR ANCIENT AND MODERN



1066–1862




…history is a pattern


Of timeless moments. So, while the light fails


On a winter’s afternoon, in a secluded chapel


History is now and England.


T. S. Eliot, ‘Little Gidding’1





The origins of Borley – the village, its church and its rectory – is in many ways the history of England. A manor at Barlea, meaning in Anglo-Saxon ‘boar’s clearing’ or ‘boar’s pasture’ is recorded in the Domesday Book. After the Norman Conquest, it was gifted to the sister of William the Conqueror.2 In the medieval period, a manor was the centre of English rural life – a commercial enterprise whose success depended on all who lived within it working in harmony and obeying the local laws issued by the lord of the manor. The lord dedicated part of his land and income to the construction of a church and rectory, and had the right to appoint the rector. This was an extremely valuable privilege as the sermons of the parish priest were a way for the lord of the manor to exert order and control over his tenants.


The first church on the Borley site had been made of timber, but in 1236 it was replaced by a more substantial building, constructed of flint rubble from local gravel pits. Its interior would have been colourfully decorated with images and statues of the saints. It was common for an image of the Last Judgement to be painted on the western wall of the church, to be seen by parishioners after the service. This ‘Doom’ painting was a warning to the faithful of what would take place on the Last Day. With famine, epidemics, war and malnutrition, the Middle Ages were dominated by the cruel fragility of life. Beliefs about the afterlife shaped the way people conducted their lives on earth. Those who performed good deeds and avoided sinful behaviour would reach salvation in Paradise. Those who had committed mortal sins were damned and would go straight to Hell, a torture chamber where the smallest pain exceeded the greatest pain on earth and the punishment would fit the crime; the gluttonous fed on toads, the proud bound to wheels of fire. But those who had committed moderately bad or venial sins were sent to a place of purification in order to repent before entering Heaven; this was Purgatory. Ghosts were thought to be the souls of those trapped in Purgatory, unable to rest until they had expiated their sins. The Church taught that the congregation could help them by praying at Mass or by paying for indulgences to shorten their time there.


In 1534, when Pope Clement VII refused to annul Henry VIII’s marriage to Catherine of Aragon, the tremors would be felt even in the small, remote parish of Borley. Monasteries were among the wealthiest institutions in the country, between them owning a quarter of all cultivated land. They were also a symbol of Papal power, which challenged that of the King. In order to bring an end to the political power of the Catholic Church, acquiring its great wealth in the process and at the same time legitimising his marriage to Anne Boleyn, Henry declared himself Supreme Head of the Church of England. He severed his relationship with Rome and confiscated its assets. By 1540, of the nearly 900 religious houses in England before this, fifty were being dissolved or demolished every month. In 1546, having taken possession of the Manor of Borley from the monastery at Canterbury, the King granted it to Edward Waldegrave of Sudbury.


The Waldegraves were an important aristocratic family, closely associated with the royal court. Edward Waldegrave was popular and highly regarded in the district for his ‘liberality with the poor’.3 In 1547, he joined the household of Mary Tudor, the King’s daughter by Catherine of Aragon, who was, like her mother, a devout Roman Catholic. The period following Henry’s death later that year was traumatic as the schism between the new Church of England and the ancient Church of Rome deepened. There was a ruthless attempt to eradicate any trace of traditional Catholic practices by the supporters of Henry’s young heir, Edward VI. Mass was abolished, shrines demolished, statues removed, pilgrimages and processions outlawed. There was to be no holy water, no holy bread and no votive candles; colourful vestments, altar dressings and incense were all prohibited. At Borley, the ancient Doom painting was whitewashed and the heavy stone altar was quietly dismantled and secreted in the floor of the church near the chancel step, where it would remain hidden for the next 400 years. Purgatory was now derided as ‘a fond thing vainly invented’ (‘fond’ meaning stupid or daft) and abolished. The dead would proceed directly to Heaven or Hell, from which neither could return. Masses for the souls of the departed were dismissed as ‘Purgatory pickpurse’, a venal Catholic way of exploiting the bereaved. Funerals were simplified and purged of ritual to such an extent that one commentator described the dead ‘being thrown into the ground like dogs, and not a word said’. The new Protestant doctrine insisted that each generation could be indifferent to the spiritual fate of its ancestors; the symbiotic relationship between the living and the dead, which had been at the heart of medieval belief, was instantly broken. Ghosts were dismissed as a symptom of degenerate Catholic belief.


Edward Waldegrave was known to be a recusant, remaining loyal to the Pope. In August 1551, he was imprisoned in the Tower of London for permitting Mass in Mary Tudor’s household at Copped Hall in Epping. After he fell ill during his incarceration, his wife Frances was allowed to join him in the Tower, and he was later permitted to spend the rest of his sentence at Mary’s residence, by her request. Fortunately for Sir Edward, the sickly King Edward died in 1553 at the age of fifteen. Mary ascended the throne and determined to re-establish the Catholic Church in England, burning 280 Protestant dissenters at the stake in the process and thus gaining the epithet ‘Bloody’ Mary. In country churches like Borley, the old Latin Mass was immediately reinstated. The trusty Waldegrave was knighted for his loyalty. But Mary herself died only five years later and Waldegrave’s erratic fortunes changed again as her younger sister Elizabeth took the throne and once again outlawed Catholic practices.4 A spy reported a Mass that had been held by the Waldegraves at Borley Hall and the presence of ‘various Popish books and superstitious ornaments’ around the house.5 Though the Mass was essentially a private gathering, it would have been deemed a political meeting, incurring harsh penalties. On 20 April 1561, Waldegrave and his family were arrested. He was once again sent to the Tower and died of ill health in September that year.


Lady Waldegrave survived her husband by thirty-eight years and they were interred together in an extraordinary stone tomb in the east end of the nave at Borley Church. It was not unusual for Catholic gentry to be buried in Anglican churches, as they were still patrons of the living and were local squires. With devotional images banished, the only decorations permitted in churches were now these gaudy memorials to the ruling elite that could afford to erect them. Overly large and ornate, the Waldegrave tomb continues to dominate the modest interior of the little country church. Effigies of the couple lie next to each other, Waldegrave in his armour, his wife with a squirrel – an emblem of thrift – at her feet. The stone canopy above them is supported by six Corinthian marble columns. On the edge, carved in black marble is a Latin inscription:




Behold, O man, what honours, what descent, what wealth will profit thee, when breath of life shall leave thy frame! Thou seest nothing remain when the structure of man is dissolved. Earth its part reclaims and so doth heaven.6





A local legend subsequently grew that, from time to time, the coffins beneath the tomb would move, suggesting unquiet slumbers for this ancient Borley family.





Though the vast majority of medieval churches were dedicated in honour of a patron saint, by 1929, of the 400 churches in Essex, Borley was one of only a handful that was undedicated, known simply as ‘Borley Church’. The parish surrounding it was made up of three neighbouring hamlets. One, situated to the east, down in the Stour Valley, was focused around Borley Hall – once the Waldegraves’ residence – which was now owned by Robert Payne, a wealthy farmer and local landowner. Hall Lane led west from the hall up the brow of the hill to another hamlet, which comprised the church, the Rectory and another historic manor house, Borley Place, which was also owned by the Paynes and leased to the farmer, William Bigg. Further westward from the church, the road wound to a small settlement of farmhouses and thatched cottages known as Borley Green, where, by 1929, there was a post office, a beer shop and the village pump, the only supply of water to the village. Though the houses were picturesque, the people, mostly agricultural workers, were poor. To the west of the stretch of Hall Lane that connected Borley Hall to the church were 10 acres of pastureland owned by the Waldegraves that provided a small income for the rector, traditionally known as the glebe. It was on the site overlooking these glebelands that the first rectory at Borley had been built.
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